

Appendix

1. Introduction

The President in the *Constitution of the United States*

Article I

Section 2

5: The House of Representatives shall chose their Speaker and other Officers; and shall have the sole Power of Impeachment.

Section 6

The Senate shall have the sole Power to try all Impeachments. When sitting for that Purpose, they shall be on Oath or Affirmation. When the President of the United States is tried, the Chief Justice shall preside: And no Person shall be convicted without the Concurrence of two thirds of the Members present.

Section 7

1: All Bills for raising Revenue shall originate in the House of Representatives; but the Senate may propose or concur with Amendments as on other Bills.

2: Every Bill which shall have passed the House of Representatives and the Senate, shall, before it become a Law, be presented to the President of the United States; If he approve he shall sign it, but if not he shall return it, with his Objections to that House in which it shall have originated, who shall enter the Objections at large on their Journal, and proceed to reconsider it. If after such Reconsideration two thirds of that House shall agree to pass the Bill, it shall be sent, together with the Objections, to the other House, by which it shall likewise be reconsidered, and if approved by two thirds of that House, it shall become a Law. But in all such Cases the Votes of both Houses shall be determined by yeas and Nays, and the Names of the Persons voting for and against the Bill shall be entered on the Journal of each House respectively. If any Bill shall not be returned by the President within ten Days (Sundays excepted) after it shall have been presented to him, the same shall be a Law, in like Manner as if he had signed it, unless the Congress by their Adjournment prevent its Return, in which Case it shall not be a Law.

3: Every Order, Resolution, or Vote to which the Concurrence of the Senate and House of Representatives may be necessary (except on a question of Adjournment) shall be presented to the President of the United States; and before the Same shall take Effect, shall be approved by him, or being disapproved by him, shall be repassed by two thirds of the Senate and House of Representatives, according to the Rules and Limitations prescribed in the Case of a Bill.

Article II

Section 1

1: The executive Power shall be vested in a President of the United States of America. He shall hold his Office during the Term of four Years, and, together with the Vice President, chosen for the same Term, be elected, as follows

2: Each State shall appoint, in such Manner as the Legislature thereof may direct, a Number of Electors, equal to the whole Number of Senators and Representatives to which the State may be entitled in the Congress: but no Senator or Representative, or Person holding an Office of Trust or Profit under the United States, shall be appointed an Elector.

3: The Electors shall meet in their respective States, and vote by Ballot for two Persons, of whom one at least shall not be an Inhabitant of the same State with themselves. And they shall make a List of all the Persons voted for, and of the Number of Votes for each; which List they shall sign and certify, and transmit sealed to the Seat of the Government of the United States, directed to the President of the Senate. The President of the Senate shall, in the Presence of the Senate and House of Representatives, open all the Certificates, and the Votes shall then be counted. The Person having the greatest Number of Votes shall be the President, if such Number be a Majority of the whole Number of Electors appointed; and if there be more than one who have such Majority, and have an equal Number of Votes, then the House of Representatives shall immediately chose by Ballot one of them for President; and if no Person have a Majority, then from the five highest on the List the said House shall in like Manner chose the President. But in choosing the President, the Votes shall be taken by States, the Representation from each State having one Vote; A quorum for this Purpose shall consist of a Member or Members from two thirds of the States, and a Majority of all the States shall be necessary to a Choice. In every Case, after the Choice of the President, the Person having the greatest Number of Votes of the Electors shall be the Vice President. But if there should remain two or more who have equal Votes, the Senate shall chose from them by Ballot the Vice President.

[Changed by the Twelfth Amendment:

The Electors shall meet in their respective states, and vote by ballot for President and Vice-President, one of whom, at least, shall not be an inhabitant of the same state with themselves; they shall name in their ballots the person voted for as President, and in distinct ballots the person voted for as Vice-President, and they shall make distinct lists of all persons voted for as President, and of all persons voted for as Vice-President, and of the number of votes for each, which lists they shall sign and certify, and transmit sealed to the seat of the government of the United States, directed to the President of the Senate;—The President of the Senate shall, in the presence of the Senate and House of Representatives, open all the certificates and the votes shall then be counted;—The person having the greatest number of votes for President, shall be the President, if such number be a majority of the whole number of Electors appointed; and if no person have such majority, then from the persons having the highest numbers not exceeding three on the list of those voted for as President, the House of Representatives shall choose immediately, by ballot, the President. But in choosing the President, the votes shall be taken by states, the representation from each state having one vote; a quorum for this purpose shall consist of a member or members from two-thirds of the states, and a majority of all the states shall be necessary to a choice. And if the House of Representatives shall not choose a President whenever the right of choice shall devolve upon them, before the fourth day of March next following, then the Vice-President shall act as President, as in the case of the death or other constitutional disability of the President. —The person having the greatest number of votes as Vice-President, shall be the Vice-President, if such number be a majority of the whole number of Electors appointed, and if no person have a majority, then from the two highest numbers on the list, the Senate shall choose the Vice-President; a quorum for the purpose shall consist of two-thirds of the whole number of Senators, and a majority of the whole number shall be necessary to a choice. But no person constitutionally ineligible to the office of President shall be eligible to that of Vice-President of the United States.]

4: The Congress may determine the Time of choosing the Electors, and the Day on which they shall give their Votes; which Day shall be the same throughout the United States.

5: No Person except a natural born Citizen, or a Citizen of the United States, at the time of the Adoption of this Constitution, shall be eligible to the Office of President; neither shall any Person be eligible to that Office who shall not have attained to the Age of thirty five Years, and been fourteen Years a Resident within the United States.

6: In Case of the Removal of the President from Office, or of his Death, Resignation, or Inability to discharge the Powers and Duties of the said Office. The Same shall devolve on the Vice President, and the Congress may by Law provide for the Case of Removal, Death, Resignation or Inability, both of the President and Vice President, declaring what Officer shall then act as President, and such Officer shall act accordingly, until the Disability be removed, or a President shall be elected.

[Changed by the Twenty-Fifth Amendment:

1: In case of the removal of the President from office or of his death or resignation, the Vice President shall become President.

2: Whenever there is a vacancy in the office of the Vice President, the President shall nominate a Vice President who shall take office upon confirmation by a majority vote of both Houses of Congress.

3: Whenever the President transmits to the President pro tempore of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives his written declaration that he is unable to discharge the powers and duties of his office, and until he transmits to them a written declaration to the contrary, such powers and duties shall be discharged by the Vice President as Acting President.

4: Whenever the Vice President and a majority of either the principal officers of the executive departments or of such other body as Congress may by law provide, transmit to the President pro tempore of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives their written declaration that the President is unable to discharge the powers and duties of his office, the Vice President shall immediately assume the powers and duties of the office as Acting President.

Thereafter, when the President transmits to the President pro tempore of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives his written declaration that no inability exists, he shall resume the powers and duties of his office unless the Vice President and a majority of either the principal officers of the executive department or of such other body as Congress may by law provide, transmit within four days to the President pro tempore of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives their written declaration that the President is unable to discharge the powers and duties of his office. Thereupon Congress shall decide the issue, assembling within forty-eight hours for that purpose if not in session. If the Congress, within twenty-one days after receipt of the latter written declaration, or, if Congress is not in session, within twenty-one days after Congress is required to assemble, determines by two-thirds vote of both Houses that the President is unable to discharge the powers and duties of his office, the Vice President shall continue to discharge the same as Acting President; otherwise, the President shall resume the powers and duties of his office.]

7: The President shall, at stated Times, receive for his Services, a Compensation, which shall neither be increased nor diminished during the Period for which he shall have been elected, and he shall not receive within that Period any other Emolument from the United States, or any of them.

8: Before he enter on the Execution of his Office, he shall take the following Oath or Affirmation:—"I do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will faithfully execute the Office of President of the United States, and will to the best of my Ability, preserve, protect and defend the Constitution of the United States."

Section 2

1: The President shall be Commander in Chief of the Army and Navy of the United States, and of the Militia of the several States, when called into the actual Service of the United States; he may require the Opinion, in writing, of the principal Officer in each of the executive Departments, upon any Subject relating to the Duties of their respective Offices, and he shall have Power to grant Reprieves and Pardons for Offences against the United States, except in Cases of Impeachment.

2: He shall have Power, by and with the Advice and Consent of the Senate, to make Treaties, provided two thirds of the Senators present concur; and he shall nominate, and by and with the Advice and Consent of the Senate, shall appoint Ambassadors, other public Ministers and Consuls, Judges of the supreme Court, and all other Officers of the United States, whose Appointments are not herein otherwise provided for, and which shall be established by Law: but the Congress may by Law vest the Appointment of such inferior Officers, as they think proper, in the President alone, in the Courts of Law, or in the Heads of Departments.

3: The President shall have Power to fill up all Vacancies that may happen during the Recess of the Senate, by granting Commissions which shall expire at the End of their next Session.

Section 3

He shall from time to time give to the Congress Information of the State of the Union, and recommend to their Consideration such Measures as he shall judge necessary and expedient; he may, on extraordinary Occasions, convene both Houses, or either of them, and in Case of Disagreement between them, with Respect to the Time of Adjournment, he may adjourn them to such Time as he shall think proper; he shall receive Ambassadors and

other public Ministers; he shall take Care that the Laws be faithfully executed, and shall Commission all the Officers of the United States.

Section 4

The President, Vice President and all civil Officers of the United States, shall be removed from Office on Impeachment for, and Conviction of, Treason, Bribery, or other high Crimes and Misdemeanors.

Amendment XX

1: The terms of the President and Vice President shall end at noon on the 20th day of January, and the terms of Senators and Representatives at noon on the 3d day of January, of the years in which such terms would have ended if this article had not been ratified; and the terms of their successors shall then begin.

2: The Congress shall assemble at least once in every year, and such meeting shall begin at noon on the 3d day of January, unless they shall by law appoint a different day.

3: If, at the time fixed for the beginning of the term of the President, the President elect shall have died, the Vice President elect shall become President. If a President shall not have been chosen before the time fixed for the beginning of his term, or if the President elect shall have failed to qualify, then the Vice President elect shall act as President until a President shall have qualified; and the Congress may by law provide for the case wherein neither a President elect nor a Vice President elect shall have qualified, declaring who shall then act as President, or the manner in which one who is to act shall be selected, and such person shall act accordingly until a President or Vice President shall have qualified.

4: The Congress may by law provide for the case of the death of any of the persons from whom the House of Representatives may choose a President whenever the right of choice shall have devolved upon them, and for the case of the death of any of the persons from whom the Senate may choose a Vice President whenever the right of choice shall have devolved upon them.

5: Sections 1 and 2 shall take effect on the 15th day of October following the ratification of this article.

6: This article shall be inoperative unless it shall have been ratified as an amendment to the Constitution by the legislatures of three-fourths of the several States within seven years from the date of its submission.

Amendment XXII

1: No person shall be elected to the office of the President more than twice, and no person who has held the office of President, or acted as President, for more than two years of a term to which some other person was elected President shall be elected to the office of the President more than once. But this article shall not apply to any person holding the office of President when this article was proposed by the Congress, and shall not prevent any person who may be holding the office of President, or acting as President, during the term within which this article becomes operative from holding the office of President or acting as President during the remainder of such term.

2: This article shall be inoperative unless it shall have been ratified as an amendment to the Constitution by the legislatures of three-fourths of the several states within seven years from the date of its submission to the states by the Congress.

Amendment XXIII

1: The District constituting the seat of government of the United States shall appoint in such manner as the Congress may direct: A number of electors of President and Vice President equal to the whole number of Senators and representatives in Congress to which the District would be entitled if it were a state, but in no event more than the least populous state; they shall be in addition to those appointed by the states, but they shall be considered, for the purposes of the election of President and Vice President, to be electors appointed by a

state; and they shall meet in the District and perform such duties as provided by the twelfth article of amendment.

2: The Congress shall have power to enforce this article by appropriate legislation.

Amendment XXIV

1. The right of citizens of the United States to vote in any primary or other election for President or Vice President, for electors for President or Vice President, or for Senator or Representative in Congress, shall not be denied or abridged by the United States or any state by reason of failure to pay any poll tax or other tax.

2. The Congress shall have power to enforce this article by appropriate legislation.

General Bibliography

- Amar, Akhil Reed. *America's Constitution: A Biography*. New York: Random House, 2005
- _____. *The Law of the Land: A Grand Tour of Our Constitutional Republic*. New York: Basic Books, 2015.
- Barilleaux, Ryan J. and Christopher S. Kelley, eds. *The Unitary Executive and the Modern Presidency*. College Station: Texas A&M University Press, 2010.
- Bausum, Ann. *Our Country's Presidents*. Washington, D.C: National Geographic Partners, LLC, 2017.
- Best, Judith. *The Case Against Direct Election of the President, Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1975*
- Beschloss, Michael. *Presidential Courage: Brave Leaders and How They Changed America 1789-1989*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 2007.
- _____. and Hugh Sidey. *The Presidents of the United States*. Washington, D.C.: The White House Historical Association, 2009.
- Brinkley, Alan and Davis Dyer. *The American Presidency*. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company, 2004.
- Calabresi, Steven G. and Christopher S. Yoo. *The Unitary Executive: Presidential Power from Washington to Bush*. New Haven: Yale University Press, 2008.
- Dean, John. *Broken Government*. New York: Viking, 2007.
- Diamond, Martin. *The Electoral College and the American Idea of Democracy*, Washington: American Enterprise Institute of Public Policy Research, 1977.
- Edwards, George C. III, *Why the Electoral College is Bad for America*. New Haven: Yale University Press, 2011.
- Ellis, Joseph J. *Founding Brothers*. New York: Vintage Books (Random House), 2002.
- Fisher, Louis and Leonard W. Levy, *Encyclopedia of the American Presidency*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1994.
- French, Allen. *The First Year of the American Revolution*. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company, 1934.
- Goodwin, Doris Kearns. *Leadership in Turbulent Times*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 2018.
- Goethals, George R. *Realignment, Region, and Race: Presidential Leadership and Social Identity*. Bingley, U.K., 2018.
- Gould, Lewis L. *The Modern American Presidency*. Lawrence, Kansas: University Press of Kansas, 2003.
- Higgenbotham, Don. *The War of American Independence*. Bloomington, Indiana: Indiana University Press, 1971.
- Jensen, Merrill, ed. *English Historical Documents, Vol. IX: American Colonial Documents to 1776*. London: Eyre and Spottiswoode, 1964.
- Jensen, Merrill. *Founding of the American Nation: A History of the American Revolution, 1763-1776*. New York: Oxford University Press, 1968.
- Jones, Charles O. *The American Presidency: A Very Short Introduction*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2016.
- Knollenberg, Bernhard. *Origin of the American Revolution*. New York: Macmillan, 1960.
- Lessig, Lawrence and Cass Sunstein. "The President and the Administration," *Columbia Law Review*. 94 (1994).
- Meacham, John. *The Soul of America: the Battle for our Better Angels*. New York: Random House Books, 2018.
- Middlekauff, Robert. *The Glorious Cause: The American Revolution, 1763-1789*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2005.
- Miller, James and John Thompson, *Almanac of American History*. Washington, D.C.: National Geographic Society, 2006.
- Morison, Samuel Eliot. *By Land and By Sea: Essays and Addresses*. New York: Knopf, 1954.

- Sabato, Larry J. and Howard R. Ernst. *Encyclopedia of American Political Parties and Elections*. New York: Facts on File, Inc., 2006
- Scheer George F. and Hugh F. Rankin. *Rebels and Redcoats*. Cleveland: World Publishing Company, 1957
- Schlesinger, Arthur M. *Imperial Presidency*. Boston: Houghton, Mifflin, 1973.
- Watson, J. Steven. *The Reign of George III, 1760-1815*. New York: Oxford University Press, 1960.
- Ward, Christopher. *The War of the Revolution*. ed. John Richard Alden. New York: Macmillan, 1952.

2. George Washington (1)

- Anderson, Fred. *Crucible of War: The Seven Years War and the Fate of Empire in British North America*. New York: Alfred A Knopf 2007.
- Avlon, John. *Washington's Farewell: The Founding Father's Warning to Future Generations*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 2017.
- Boller, Paul F. *George Washington and Religion*. Dallas, Texas: Southern Methodist Press, 1963.
- Chernow, Ron. *Alexander Hamilton*. New York: Penguin Press, 2005.
- Chernow, Ron. *Washington: A Life*. New York: Penguin Press, 2010.
- Ellis, Joseph J. *His Excellency: George Washington*. New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 2004.
- Ferling, John E. *Setting the World Ablaze: Washington, Adams, Jefferson, and the American Revolution*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2002.
- Ferling, John E. *The Ascent of George Washington: The Hidden Political Genius of an American Icon*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2009.
- Ferling, John E. *Jefferson and Hamilton: The Rivalry that Forged a Nation*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2013.
- Fitzpatrick, John C., ed. *The Writings of George Washington from the Original Manuscript Sources, 1745-1799*. Washington, D.C.: United States Government Printing Office, 1931-1944.
- Flexner, James Thomas. *George Washington: The Forge of Experience, 1732-1775*. Boston: Little Brown, 1965.
- _____. *George Washington in the American Revolution, 1775-1783*. Boston: Little Brown, 1968.
- Flexner, James Thomas. *George Washington and the New Nation (1783-1793)*. Boston: Little Brown, 1969.
- Flexner, James Thomas. *George Washington: Anguish and Farewell (1792-1799)*. Boston: Little Brown, 1972.
- Flexner, James Thomas. *George Washington: The Indispensable Man*. Little Brown, 1974.
- Freeman, Douglas Southall. *George Washington: A Biography*, completed by J.A. Carrol and Mary W. Ashworth. New York: Scribner, 1948-1957.
- Henriques, Peter R. *Realistic Visionary: A Portrait of George Washington*. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press, 2006.
- Jones, Charles O. *The American Presidency: A Very Short Introduction*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2016.
- McCullough, David. *1776*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 2005.
- Unger, Harlow Giles. *"Mr. President" George Washington and the Making of the Nation's Highest Office*. New York: Da Capo Press (Perseus), 2013.
- Washington, George. *George Washington Papers*. Washington, D.C.: Library of Congress.
- https://www.reddit.com/r/AskHistorians/comments/7gi9xz/did_king_george_iii_really_think_that_george/

3. John Adams (2)

- Brookhiser, Richard. *America's First Dynasty: The Adamses, 1735-1918*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 2002.
- Brown, Ralph Adams. *The Presidency of John Adams*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1975.
- Cappon, Lester J., ed. *The Adams-Jefferson Letters: The Complete Correspondence Between Thomas Jefferson and Abigail and John Adams*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 1959.
- Ellis, Joseph J. *Passionate Sage: The Character and Legacy of John Adams*. New York: W.W. Norton and Company, 1993.
- Ferling, John E. *John Adams: A Life*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press, 1992.
- Fielding, Howard. "John Adams: Puritan, Deist, Humanist." *Journal of Religion* 20 (1, 1940): 33-46.
- Hoadley, John F. *Origins of American Political Parties: 1789-1803*. Lexington, KY: University Press of Kentucky, 1986.

- Hogan, Margaret and C. James Taylor, ed. *My Dearest Friend: Letters of Abigail and John Adams*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 2007.
- Kurtz, Stephen G. *The Presidency of John Adams: the Collapse of Federalism*. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 1957.
- Mayville, Luke. *John Adams and the Fear of American Oligarchy*. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2016.
- McCullough, David. *John Adams*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 2001.
- Shaw, Peter. *The Character of John Adams*. New York: W.W. Norton and Company, 1975.
- Smith Page. *John Adams, Volume I and Volume II*. New York: Doubleday and Company, Inc., 1962.
- Stone, Peter. *1776*. Film Produced by Jack L. Warner. Directed by Peter H. Hunt. Columbia Pictures, 1972.
- Thompson, C. Bradley. *John Adams and the Spirit of Liberty*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1998.
- Wood, Gordon S. *Friends Divided: John Adams and Thomas Jefferson*. New York: Penguin Books, 2017.

4. Thomas Jefferson (3)

- Ambrose, Stephen. *Undaunted Courage: Meriwether Lewis, Thomas Jefferson, and the Opening of the American West*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1996.
- Bassani, Luigi Marco. *Liberty, State and Union: The Political Theory of Thomas Jefferson*. Macon, GA.: Mercer University Press, 2010.
- Bear, James Adam. *Jefferson at Monticello*. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press, 1967.
- Bernstein, Richard B. *Thomas Jefferson*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2003.
- Bober, Natalie. *Thomas Jefferson: Draftsman of a Nation*. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press, 2008.
- Boles, John B. *Jefferson: Architect of American Liberty*. New York: Basic Books, 2017.
- Brodie, Faun. *Thomas Jefferson: An Intimate History*. New York: W.W. Norton and Company, 1974, reissue, 1998.
- Chernow, Ron. *Alexander Hamilton*. New York: Penguin Press, 2004.
- Davis, David Brion. *The Problem of Slavery in the Age of Revolution, 1770-1823*. New York: Oxford University Press, 1999.
- Ellis, Joseph J. *American Sphinx: The Character of Thomas Jefferson*. New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1996.
- _____. *Thomas Jefferson: Genius of Liberty*. New York: Viking Studio, 2000.
- Ferling, John. *Setting the World Ablaze: Washington, Adams, Jefferson, and the American Revolution*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2000.
- _____. *Adams vs. Jefferson: The Tumultuous election of 1800*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2004.
- _____. *Jefferson and Hamilton: The Rivalry that Forged a Nation*. New York: Bloomsbury Press, 2013.
- Fremont-Barnes, Gregory. *The Wars of the Barbary Pirates: To the Shores of Tripoli – The Rise of the U.S. Navy and Marines*. Oxford: Osprey Publishing, 2006.
- Gordon-Reed, Annette. *Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings: An American Controversy*. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press, 1997.
- _____. *The Hemingses of Monticello: An American Family*. New York: W.W. Norton and Company, 2008.
- Hayes, Kevin J. *The Road to Monticello: The Life and Mind of Thomas Jefferson*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2008.
- Helo, Ari. *Thomas Jefferson's Ethics and the Politics of Human Progress: The Morality of a Slaveholder*. New York: Cambridge University Press, 2013.
- Horn, James, Jan Lewis and Peter Onuf, eds. *The Election of 1800*. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press., 2002.
- Kaplan, Lawrence S. *Thomas Jefferson: Westward the Course of Empire*. Washington, DC: Rowman and Littlefield, 1999.
- Majewski, John. *The House Dividing: Economic Development in Pennsylvania and Virginia before the Civil War*. New York: Cambridge University Press, 2000.
- Malone, Dumas. *Jefferson, Six Volumes*. Boston: Little, Brown and Company, 1948-1981.
- Meacham, Jon. *Thomas Jefferson: The Art of Power*. New York: Random House Publishing, LLC, 2012.
- Onuf, Peters S. *The Mind of Thomas Jefferson*. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press, 2007.
- Peterson, Merrill D. *Thomas Jefferson and the New Nation: A Biography*. New York: Oxford University Press, 1970.
- Randall, Willard Sterne. *Thomas Jefferson: A Life*. New York: Harper Collins, 1994.
- Shuffelton, Frank. "Introduction" in Jefferson, Thomas, *Notes of the State of Virginia*. New York: Penguin Books, 1974.
- Wiencek, Henry. *Master of the Mountain*. New York: Macmillan, 2012.

Wood, Gordon S. *Revolutionary Characters: What Made the Founders Different?* New York: Penguin Press, 2006.

5. James Madison (4)

Banning, Lance. *The Sacred fire of Liberty: James Madison and the Founding of the Federal Republic*. Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1995.

Bernstein, Richard B. *Are We to be a Nation?; The Making of the Constitution*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1987.

Brant, Irving. *James Madison*. 6 Volumes. Indianapolis: Bobbs-Merrill Publishing, 1941-1961.

Broadwater, Jeff. *James Madison: A Son of Virginia and a Founder of a Nation*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 2012.

Broiokhiser, Richard. *James Madison*. New York: Basic Books, 2011.

Chadwick, Bruce. *James and Dolley Madison: America's First Power Couple*. Amherst, N.Y.: Prometheus, Books, 2014.

Feldman, Noah. *The three Lives of James Madison: Genius, Partisan, President*. New York: Random House, 2017.

Gutzman, Kevin. *James Madison and the Making of America*. New York: St. Martin's Press, 2012.

Ketchum, Ralph. *James Madison: A Biography*. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press 1990.

Labunski, Richard. *James Madison and the Struggle of the Bill of Rights*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2006.

Matthews, Richard K. *If Men Were Angels: James Madison and the Heartless Empire of Reason*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1995.

Rakove, Jack. *James Madison and the Creation of the American Republic*. New York: Longman, 2002.

Rutland, Robert A. *The Presidency of James Madison*. Lawrence: University of Kansas Press, 1990.2

Stewart, David. *The Summer of 1787: The Men Who Invented the Constitution*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 2007.

Wills, Garry. *James Madison*. New York: Times Books, 2002.

Wood, Gordon S. *Empire of Liberty: A History of the Early Republic*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2009.

6. James Monroe (5)

Ammon, Harry. *James Monroe: The Quest for National Identity*. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1971.

Cunningham, Noble E. *The Presidency of James Monroe*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1996.

Dangerfield, George. *The Awakening of American Nationalism, 1815-1828*. New York: Harper and Row, 1965.

Perkins, Dexter. *The Monroe Doctrine, 1823-1826*. Gloucester, Massachusetts: P. Smith Publishing, 1927 (1966).

Renehan, Edward J., Jr. *The Monroe Doctrine: The Cornerstone of American Foreign Policy*. New York: Chelsea House, 2007.

Unger, Harlow G. *The Last Founding Father: James Monroe and a Nation's Call to Greatness*. Cambridge, Massachusetts: De Capo Press, 2009.

Wood, Gordon S. *Empire of Liberty: A History of the Early Republic, 1789-1815*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2009.

7. John Quincy Adams (6)

Bemis, Samuel Flagg. *John Quincy Adams and the Foundations of American Foreign Policy*. _____: Greenwood Press, 1949.

_____. *John Quincy Adams and the Union*. New York: Knopf, 1956.

Cooper, William J. *The Lost Founding Father: John Quincy Adams and the Transformation of American Politics*. New York: Liveright Publishing (W.W. Norton), 2017.

Edel, Charles N. *Nation Builder: John Quincy Adams and the Grand Strategy of the Republic*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 2014.

Hargreaves, Mary W.M. *The Presidency of John Quincy Adams*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1985.

Kaplan, Fred. *John Quincy Adams: American Visionary*. New York: HarperCollins, 2014.

- Lewis, James E., Jr. *John Quincy Adams: Policymaker of the Union*. Wilmington: Scholarly Resources, Inc., 2001.
- McMillan, Richard. "Election of 1824: Corrupt Bargain or the Birth of Modern Politics?" *New England Journal of History*. 58 (2, 2001): 24-37.
- Miller, William Lee. *Arguing About Slavery: The Great Battle in the United States Congress*. New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1996.
- Nagel, Paul. *John Quincy Adams: A Public Life, a Private Life*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1999.
- Parsons, Lynn Hudson. *John Quincy Adams*. Madison, Wisconsin: Rowman and Littlefield Publishing, 1998.
- _____. *The Birth of Modern Politics: Andrew Jackson, John Quincy Adams, and the Election of 1828*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2009.
- Richards, Leonard. *The Life and Times of Congressman John Quincy Adams*. New York: Oxford University Press, 1986.
- Traub, James. *John Quincy Adams: Militant Spirit*. New York: Basic Books, 2016.

8. Andrew Jackson (7)

- Berutti, Ronald A. "The Cherokee Crisis: The Fight to Save the Supreme Court and the Cherokee Indians," *American Indian Law Review* 17 (1):291-308.
- Booraem, Hendrik. *Young Hickory: The Making of Andrew Jackson*. Lanham, Maryland: Taylor Trade Publishing, 2001
- Brands, H.W. *Andrew Jackson: His Life and Times*. New York: Knopf Doubleday Publishing Group, 2005.
- Cheatham, Mark R. "Andrew Jackson, Slavery, and Historians," *History Compass* 9 (4, April 1, 2011): 326-338.
- Cole, Donald B. *The Presidency of Andrew Jackson*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1993.
- Curtis, James C. *Andrew Jackson and the Search for Vindication*. Boston: Little, Brown and Company, 1976.
- Garrison, Tim Allen. *The Legal Ideology of Removal: The Southern Judiciary and the Sovereignty of Native American Nations*. Athens: University of Georgia Press, 2002.
- Jahoda, Gloria. *The Trail of Tears: The Story of the American Indian Removals 1813-1855*. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1975.
- Kahan, Paul. *The Bank War: Andrew Jackson, Nicholas Biddle, and the Fight for American Finance*. Yardley, Pennsylvania: Westholme Publishing, 2016.
- Marszalek, John F. *The Petticoat Affair: Manners, Mutiny, and Sex in Andrew Jackson's White House*. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press, 1997/2000.
- Meacham, Jon. *American Lion: Andrew Jackson in the White House*. New York: Random House Publishing Group, 2008.
- Remini, Robert V. *Andrew Jackson and the Course of American Empire, 1767-1821*. New York: Harper and Row Publishers, Inc., 1977.
- _____. *Andrew Jackson and the Course of American Freedom, 1822-1832*. New York: Harper and Row Publishers, Inc., 1981.
- _____. *Andrew Jackson and the Course of American Democracy, 1833-1845*. New York: Harper and Row Publishers, Inc., 1984.
- _____. *The Life of Andrew Jackson*. Abridgement of Three Volume Biography. New York: Harper and Row, Inc., 1988.
- Schlesinger, Arthur M. *The Age of Jackson*. Boston: Little, Brown and Company, 1945/1953.
- Warshauer, Matthew. *Andrew Jackson and the Politics of Martial Law*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press, 2006.
- Watson, Harry L. *Liberty and Power: The Politics of Jacksonian America*. New York: Noonday Press, 1990.
- Wilentz, Sean. *Andrew Jackson*. New York: Henry Holt and Company, 2005.

9. Martin Van Buren (8)

- Cole, Donald B. *Martin Van Buren and the American Political System*. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1984.
- Curtis, James C. *The Fox at Bay: Martin Van Buren and the Presidency, 1837-1841*. Lexington: University of Kentucky Press, 19870.
- Holt, Michael F. *The Rise and Fall of the American Whig Party: Jacksonian Politics and the Onset of the Civil War*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Niven, John. *Martin Van Buren: The Romantic Age of American Politics*. New York: Oxford University Press, 1983.

- Remini, Robert V. *Martin Van Buren and the Making of the Democratic Party*. New York: Columbia University Press, 1959.
- Sibley, Joel H. *Martin Van Buren and the Emergence of American Popular Politics*. Lanham, MD: Rowman and Littlefield Publishers, 2002.
- Wilson, Major J. *The Presidency of Martin Van Buren*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1984.

10. William Henry Harrison (9)

- Booraem, Hendrik. *A Child of the Revolution: William Henry Harrison and His World 1773-1798*. Kent, Ohio: Kent State University Press, 2012.
- Cleaves, Freeman. *Old Tippecanoe: William Henry Harrison and His Time*. New York: Scribner's Sons, 1990.
- Jotner, Adam. *The Gods of Prophetstown: The Battle of Tippecanoe and the Holy War of the Frontier*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2012.
- McCormick, Richard P. *The Presidential Game: The Origins of Presidential Politics*. New York: _____, 1982.
- Peterson, Norma Lois. *The Presidencies of William Henry Harrison and John Tyler*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1989.
- Owens, Robert M. *Mr. Jefferson's Hammer: William Henry Harrison and the Origins of American Indian Policy*. Norman, Oklahoma: University of Oklahoma Press, 2007.
- Shade, William G. "Tippecanoe and Tyler too": William Henry Harrison and the Rise of Popular Politics," *A Companion to the Antebellum Presidents 1837-1861*, Joel Silbey, ed. _____, 2013.
- Skaggs, David Curtis. *William Henry Harrison and the Conquest of the Ohio Country*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2014.

11. John Tyler (10)

- Crapol, Edward P. *John Tyler, the Accidental President*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 2006.
- _____. "John Tyler and the Pursuit of National Destiny," *Journal of the Early Republic*. 17 (3, 1997): 467-491.
- Dinnerstein, Leonard. "The Accession of John Tyler to the Presidency," *The Virginia Magazine of History and Biography*. 70 (4, October, 1962): 447-458.
- Kleber, Louis C. "John Tyler," *History Today*. 25 (10, October, 1975): 697-703.
- Lambert, Oscar D. *Presidential Politics in the United States, 1841-1844*. Durham: Duke University Press, 1936.
- May, Gary. *John Tyler*. New York: Times Books (Henry Holt and Company), 2008.
- Monroe, Dan. *The Republican Vision of John Tyler*. College Station: Texas A&M University Press, 2003.
- Morgan, Robert J. *A Whig Embattled: The Presidency Under John Tyler*. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press, 1954.
- Peterson, Norma Lois. *The Presidencies of William Henry Harrison and John Tyler*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1989.
- Seager, Robert, II. *And Tyler Too: A Biography of John and Julia Gardiner Tyler*. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1963.

12. James Knox Polk (11)

- Barilleaux, Ryan J. and Christopher S. Kelley, eds. *The Unitary Executive and the Modern Presidency*. College Station: Texas A&M University Press, 2010.
- Bergeron, Paul. *The Presidency of James Knox Polk*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas,
- Borneman, Walter R. *Polk: The Man Who Transformed the Presidency and America*. New York: Random House, 2008.
- Calabeesi, Steven G. and Christopher S. Yoo. *The Unitary Executive: Presidential Power from Washington to Bush*. New Haven: Yale University Press, 2008.

- Chaffin, Tom. *Met His Every Goal? James K. Polk and the Legends of Manifest Destiny*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press, 2014.
- Cherry, Conrad. *God's New Israel*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 1998.
- Dean, John. *Broken Government*. New York: Viking, 2007.
- Dusinberre, William. *Slavemaster President: The Double Career of James Polk*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2003.
- Gauja, Anika. *Party Reform: The Causes, Challenges, and Consequences of Organizational Change*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2017.
- Greenberg, Amy S. *A Wicked War: Polk, Clay, Lincoln and the 1846 Invasion of Mexico*. New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 2012.
- Hayes, Sam W. *James K. Polk and the Expansionist Impulse*. New York: Longman, 1997.
- Hietala, Thomas R. *Manifest Design: American Exceptionalism and Empire*. Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 2003.
- Horsman, Reginald. *Race and Manifest Destiny: The Origins of American Racial Anglo-Saxonism*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1981.
- Johannsen, Robert Walter. *Manifest Destiny and Empire: American Antebellum Expansionism*. College Station: Texas A&M University Press, 1997.
- Lee, Ronald C., Jr. "Justifying Empire: Pericles, Polk and a Dilemma of Democratic Leadership," *Polity* 34 (4, Summer 2002): 503-531.
- Lessig, Lawrence and Cass Sunstein. "The President and the Administration," *Columbia Law Review*. 94 (1994).
- May, Robert E. *Manifest Destiny's Underworld*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 2004.
- Merk, Frederick. *Manifest Destiny and Mission in American History*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1963.
- Merry, Robert W. *A Country of Vast Designs: James K. Polk, the Mexican War, and the Conquest of the American Continent*. New York: Simon & Schuster, 2009.
- Pletcher, David M. *The Diplomacy of Annexation: Texas, Oregon, and the Mexican War*. Columbia: University of Missouri Press, 1973.
- Sampson, Robert. *John L. O'Sullivan and His Times*. Kent: Kent State University Press, 2003.
- Stephanson, Anders. *Manifest Destiny: American Expansionism and the Empire of Right*. New York: Hill and Wang (Farrar, Straus and Giroux – Macmillan), 1996.
- Tuveson, Earnest Lee. *Redeemer Nation: The Idea of America's Millennial Role*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1980.
- Woodworth, Steven E. *Manifest Destinies: America's Westward Expansion and the Road to the Civil War*. New York: Alfred A Knopf, 2010.
- Sellers, Charles. *James K. Polk*, Two Volumes. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1957-1966.

13. Zachary Taylor (12)

- Bauer, K. Jack. *Zachary Taylor: Soldier, Planter, Statesman of the Old Southwest*. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press, 1985.
- Eisenhower, John S.D. *Zachary Taylor*. New York: Times Books (Macmillan), 2008.
- Silbey, Joel H. *Party Over Section: The Rough and Ready Presidential Election of 1848*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 2009.
- Smith, Elbert B. *The Presidencies of Zachary Taylor and Millard Fillmore*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1988.

14. Millard Fillmore (13)

- Campbell, Stanley W. *The Slave Catchers: Enforcement of the Fugitive Slave Law, 1850-1860*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 2012.
- Elbert, Sarah, ed. "Introduction." *The American Prejudice Against Color: William g. Allen, Mary King, and Louisa May Alcott*. Boston: Northeastern University Press, 2002.
- Fehrenbacher, Don E. *The Slaveholding Republic: An Account of the United States Government's Relations to Slavery*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2001.
- Finkelman, Paul. *Millard Fillmore*. New York: Times Books (McMillan), 2011.
- Greenstein, Fred I. and Dale Anderson. *Presidents and the Dissolution of the Union: Leadership Style from Polk to Lincoln*. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2013.
- Grayson, Benson Lee. *The Unknown President: The Administration of Millard Fillmore*. Washington, D.C.: - University Press of America, 1981.
- Groom, Winston. *Shiloh, 1862*. Washington, D.C.: National Geographic, 2012.

- Hedrick, Joan D. *Harriet Beecher Stowe: A Life*. New York: Oxford University Press, 1994.
- Rayback, Robert J. *Millard Fillmore: Biography of a President*. Buffalo: Buffalo Historical Society by H. Stewart, 1959.
- Scarry, Robert J. *Millard Fillmore*. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland and Company, Inc., 2001.
- Smith, David G. *On the Edge of Freedom: The Fugitive Slave Issue in South Central Pennsylvania*. New York: Fordham University Press, 2013.
- Smith, Elbert B. *The Presidencies of Zachary Taylor and Millard Fillmore*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1988.

15. Franklin Pierce (14)

- Boulard, Garry. *The Expatriation of Franklin Pierce: The Story of a President and the Civil War*. New York: iUniverse, 2006.
- Etchison, Nicole. *Bleeding Kansas: Contested Liberty in the Civil War Era*. Lawrence: University of Kansas Press, 2004.
- Gara, Larry. *The Presidency of Franklin Pierce*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1991.
- Holt, Michael F. *Franklin Pierce: the American Presidents*. New York: Henry Holt and Company, LLC, 2010.
- Nichols, Roy F. *Franklin Pierce: Young Hickory of the Granite State*. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 1958.
- Paludan, Philip Shaw. *The Presidency of Abraham Lincoln*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1994.
- Porter, David M. *The Impending Crisis: 1848-1861*, ed., Don E. Fehrenbacher New York: Harper and Row, 1976.
- Taylor, Michael J.C. "Governing the Devil in Hell: "Bleeding Kansas" and the Destruction of the Franklin Pierce Presidency, 1854-1856." *White House Studies* 1 (2001): 185-201.
- Walner, Peter A. *Franklin Pierce: New Hampshire's Favorite Son*. Concord, N.H.: Plaidswede Publishing, 2004.
- _____. *Franklin Pierce: Martyr for the Union*. Concord, N.H.: Plaidswede Publishing, 2007.

16. James Buchanan (15)

- Baker, Jean H. *James Buchanan*. New York: Times Books (Macmillan), 2004.
- Klein, Phillip S. *President James Buchanan: A Biography*. Newtown, Conn.: American Political Biography Press, 1992.
- Nevins, Allan. *The Emergence of Lincoln, Douglas, Buchanan, and Party Chaos, 1857-1859*. New York: Scribner, 1950.
- Potter, David Morris. *The Impending Crisis, 1848-1861*. New York: Harper and Row, 1976.
- Smith, Elbert. *The Presidency of James Buchanan*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1976.
- Stampp, Kenneth M. *America in 1857: A Nation on the Brink*. New York: Oxford University Press, 1990.
- Strauss, Robert. *Worst. President. Ever. James Buchanan, the POTUS Rating Game, and the Legacy of the Least of the Lesser Presidents*. Lanham, Maryland: Rowman and Littlefield, 2016.

17. Abraham Lincoln (16)

- Arnold, Isaac Newton. *The Life of Abraham Lincoln*. Lincoln: University of Nebraska, 1994.
- Baker, Jean H. "Abraham Lincoln," in *The American Presidency: The Authoritative Reference*. Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 2004.
- _____. *Mary Todd Lincoln: A Biography*. New York: W.W. Norton and Company, 1989.
- Barr, John M. *Loathing Lincoln: An American Tradition from the Civil War*. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University, 2014.
- Barton, William E. *The Life of Abraham Lincoln*. New York: The Bobbs-Merrill Company, 1925.
- Catton, Bruce. *The Centennial History of the Civil War: Volume 1, The Coming Fury; Volume 2, Terrible Swift Sword; Volume 3, Never Call Retreat*. New York: Pocket Books, 1967, 1969.
- Carwardine, Richard. *Lincoln: A Life of Purpose and Power*. New York: Knopf Publishing, 2006.
- Cuomo, Mario M. and Harold Holzer. *Why Lincoln Matters: Today More than Ever*. Orlando: Harcourt, 2004.
- Donald, David Herbert. *Lincoln*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1996.
- Dirck, Brian R. *Lincoln Emancipated: The President and the Politics of Race*. DeKalb: Northern Illinois University Press, 2007.
- _____. *Lincoln the Lawyer*. Champaign: University of Illinois Press, 2008.

- Foner, Eric. *Free Soil, Free Labor, Free Men: The Ideology of the Republican Party before the Civil War*. New York: Oxford University Press, 1970.
- Goodrich, Thomas. *The Darkest Dawn: Lincoln, Booth, and the Great American Tragedy*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 2005.
- Goodwin, Doris Kearns. *Team of Rivals: The Political Genius of Abraham Lincoln*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 2005.
- Green, Michael S. *Lincoln and the Election of 1860*. Carbondale: Southern Illinois University Press, 2011.
- Grimsley, Mark and Brooks D. Simpson. *The Collapse of the Confederacy*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 2001.
- Hansen, Harry. *The Civil War: A History*. New York: New American Library, 2001.
- Harris, William Charles. *Lincoln's Rise to the Presidency*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 2007.
- Hill, Frederick T. *Lincoln the Lawyer*. New York: The Century Company, 1906.
- Holzer, Harold. *Lincoln at Cooper Union: The Speech That Made Abraham Lincoln*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 2004.
- McPherson, James M. *Abraham Lincoln*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2009.
- _____. *Abraham Lincoln and the Second American Revolution*. New York: Oxford University Press, 1992.
- _____. *Battle Cry of Freedom: The Civil War Era*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2005.
- Miller, William Lee. *President Lincoln: The Duty of a Statesman*. New York: Knopf Publishing, 2008.
- Neely, Mark E. *The Fate of Liberty: Abraham Lincoln and Civil Liberties*. New York: Oxford University Press, 1992.
- Nevins, Allan. *The Emergence of Lincoln: Prologue to Civil War, 1859-1861*. New York: Scribner, 1950.
- _____. *The War for the Union*. New York: Scribner, 1959.
- Oates, Stephen B. *With Malice Toward None: The Life of Abraham Lincoln*. New York: Harper Collins Publishing, 2009.
- Randall, James Garfield. *Lincoln: The Liberal Statesman*. New York: Dodd, Mead Publishing, 1962.
- Randall, James Garfield and Richard Current. *Lincoln the President*. Four Volumes. New York: Dodd, Mead Publishing, 1945-1955.
- Rozwenc, Edwin Charles. *The Causes of the American Civil War*. Boston: Heath, 1961.
- Sandburg, Carl. *Abraham Lincoln: The Prairie Years and the War Years*. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Harcourt Publishing, 2002.
- Simon, Paul. *Lincoln's Preparation for Greatness: The Legislative Years*. Champaign: University of Illinois Press, 1990.
- Striner, Richard. *Father Abraham: Lincoln's Relentless Struggle to End Slavery*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2006.
- White, Ronald C., Jr. *A. Lincoln: A Biography*. New York: Random House Publishing Group, 2009.
- _____. *Lincoln's Greatest Speech: The Second Inaugural*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 2003.
- Wills, Garry. *Lincoln at Gettysburg: The Words that Remade America*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 2012.
- Wilson, Douglas. *Lincoln's Sword: The Presidency and the Power of Words*. New York: Vintage Publishing, 2007.
- Zarefsky, David. *Lincoln, Douglas, and Slavery: In the Crucible of Public Debate*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1993.

18. Andrew Johnson (17)

- Benedict, Michael Les. *The Impeachment and Trial of Andrew Johnson*. New York: W.W. Norton, 1973.
- Castel, Albert E. *The Presidency of Andrew Johnson*. Lawrence: The Regents Press of Kansas, 1979.
- Fitzgerald, Michael W. *Splendid Failure: Postwar Reconstruction in the American South*. Chicago: Ivan R. Dee, 2007.
- Foner, Eric. *Reconstruction: America's Unfinished Revolution, 1863-1877*. New York: HarperCollins, 1988.
- Gordon-Reed, Annette. *Andrew Johnson*. New York: Henry Holt and Company, 2011.
- McKittrick, Eric L. *Andrew Johnson and Reconstruction*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1960.
- Stewart, David O. *Impeached: The Trial of President Andrew Johnson and the Fight for Lincoln's Legacy*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 2009.
- Trefousse, Hans L. *Andrew Johnson: A Biography*. New York: W.W. Norton, 1989.

19. Ulysses S. Grant (18)

- Bonekmpfer, Edward H. *Grant and Lee*. Washington, D.C.: Regnery History, 2012.
- Brands, H.W. *The Man Who Saved the Union: Ulysses S. Grant in War and Peace*. New York: Doubleday, 2012.
- Calhoun, Charles W. *The Presidency of Ulysses S. Grant*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 2017.
- Chernow, Ron. *Grant*. New York: Penguin Press, 2017.
- Farina, William. *Ulysses S. Grant, 1861-1864: His Rise from Obscurity to Military Greatness*. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland and Company, 2001.
- Foner, Eric. *Reconstruction: America's Unfinished Revolution, 1863-1877*. New York: Harper Perennial, 2014.
- Goethals, George R. *Presidential Leadership and African Americans*. New York: Routledge, 2015.
- Kahan, Paul. *The Presidency of Ulysses S. Grant Preserving the Civil War's Legacy*. Yardley, Pennsylvania: Westholme Publishing, LLC., 2018.
- Longacre, Edward G. *General Ulysses S. Grant: The Soldier and the Man*. Cambridge, MA.: First Da Capo Press, 2006.
- McFeely, William. *Ulysses S. Grant: A Biography*. New York: Norton, 1982.
- Perret, Geoffrey. *Ulysses S. Grant: Soldier and President*. New York: Modern Library, 2009.
- Sarna, Jonathan D. *When General Grant Expelled the Jews*. New York: Schocken Books, 2012.
- Simpson, Brooks D. *Ulysses S. Grant: Triumph Over Adversity, 1822-1865*. Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 2014.
- Smith, Jean Edward. *Grant*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 2001.
- Waugh, Joan. *U.S. Grant: American Hero, American Myth*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 2009.
- White, Ronald C. *American Ulysses: A Life of Ulysses S. Grant*. New York: Random House Publishing Group, 2016.

20. Rutherford B. Hayes (19)

- Barnar, Harry. *Rutherford Hayes and His America*. Newtown, Connecticut: American Political Biography Press, 2005.
- Davison, Kenneth E. *The Presidency of Rutherford B. Hayes*. Westport, Connecticut: Greenwood Press, 1972.
- Foner, Eric. *Reconstruction: America's Unfinished Revolution, 1863-1877*. New York: Harper Perennial Modern Classics, 1988.
- Holt, Michael F. *By One Vote: The Disputed Presidential Election of 1876*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 2008.
- Hoogenboom, Ari. *Rutherford B. Hayes: Warrior and President*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1995.
- Richardson, Heather Cox. *The Death of Reconstruction*. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press, 2001.
- Robinson, Lloyd. *The Stolen Election: Hayes versus Tilden – 1876*. New York: Tom Doherty Associates, 2001.
- Trefousse, Has L. *Rutherford B. Hayes*. Times Books (Macmillan), 2002.
- Vazzano, Frank P. "Rutherford B. Hayes and the Politics of Discord." 68 *The Historian* (3, Fall 2006): 519-540
- Williams, T. Harry. *Hayes: The Diary of a President, 1875-1881, Covering the Disputed Election, the End of Reconstruction, and the Beginning of Civil Service*. New York: D. McKay Co, 1964.

21. James Garfield (20)

- Ackerman, Kenneth D. *Dark Horse: The Surprise Election and Political Murder of James A. Garfield*. New York: Avalon Publishing, 2003.
- Caldwell, Robert Granville. *James A Garfield: Party Chieftain*. New York: Dodd, Mead and Company, 1965.
- Clancy, Herbert J. *The Presidential Election of 1880*. Chicago: Loyola University Press, 1958.
- Doenecke, Julius D. *The Presidencies of James A Garfield and Chester A Arthur*. Lawrence: The Regents Press of Kansas, 1961.
- Millard, Candice. *Destiny of the Republic: A Tale of Madness, Medicine and the Murder of a President*. New York: Anchorfd
- Peskin, Allan. *Garfield: A Biography*. Kent, Ohio: Kent State University Press, 1978.
- Rutkow, Ira. *James A Garfield*. New York: Macmillan Publishers, 2006.

22. Chester A. Arthur (21)

- Ayers, Edward L. *The Promise of the New South: Life After Reconstruction*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2007.
- Doenecke, Justus D. *The Presidencies of James A Garfield and Chester A. Arthur*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1981.
- Greenberger, Scott S. *The Unexpected President: The Life and Times of Chester A. Arthur*. New York: Da Capo, 2017.
- Howe, George F. *Chester A. Arthur: A Quarter-Century of Machine Politics*. New York: F. Ungar Publishing Company, 1966.
- Karabell, Zachary. *Chester Alan Arthur*. New York: Henry Holt and Company, 2004.
- Peskin, Allan. "Who Were the Stalwarts? Who Were Their Rivals? Republican Factions in the Gilded Age." *Political Science Quarterly* 99 (Winter, 1984): 703-716.
- Reeves, Thomas C. *Gentleman Boss: The Life of Chester A. Arthur*. New York: Alfred A. Knopf., 1975.

23. Grover Cleveland (22 and 24)

- Brodsky, Alan. *Grover Cleveland: A Study in Character*. New York: St. Martin's Press, 2000.
- Hoffman, Charles. *Depression of the Nineties: An Economic History*. Westport, Connecticut: Greenwood Press, 1970.
- Jeffers, H. Paul. *An Honest President: The Life and Presidencies of Grover Cleveland*. New York: Perennial Press, 2000.
- Klinghard, Daniel P. "Grover Cleveland, William McKinley, and the Emergence of the President as Party Leader." *Presidential Studies Quarterly* 35 (4, 2005): 736-760.
- McWilliams, Tennant S. "James H. Blount, the South, and Hawaiian Annexation." *Pacific Historical Review*. 57 (1, 1988):25-46.
- Merrill, Horace Samuel. *Bourbon Leader: Grover Cleveland and the Democratic Party*. Boston: Little, Brown, 1957.
- Morgan, H. Wayne. *From Hayes to McKinley: National Party Politics*. Syracuse: Syracuse University Press, 1969.
- Nevens, Allan. *Grover Cleveland: A Study in Courage*. New York: Dodd, Mead and Company, 1932.
- Reitano, Joanne R. *The Tariff Question in the Guiled Age: The Great Debate of 1888*. University Park: Pennsylvania University Press, 1994.
- Summers, Mark Wahlgren. *Rum, Romanism, and Rebellion: The Making of a President, 1884*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 2000.
- Tugwell, Rexford Guy. *Grover Cleveland*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1968.
- Welch, Richard. *The Presidencies of Grover Cleveland*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1988.

24. Benjamin Harrison (23)

- Calhoun, Charles William. *Benjamin Harrison*. New York: Macmillan, 2005.
- Hale, Hester Anne and Chieko Moore. *Benjamin Harrison: Centennial President*. New York: Nova Science Publishers, 2006.
- Sievers, Benjamin Harrison*. 3 volumes. (Indianapolis: University Publishers, Inc., 1932.
- Socolofsky, Homer E. and Allen B. Spetter. *The Presidency of Benjamin Harrison*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1987.

25. William McKinley (25)

- Gould, Lewis L. *The Presidency of William McKinley*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1980.
- Harpine, William D. *From the Front Porch to the Front Page: McKinley and Bryan in the 1896 Presidential Campaign*. College Station: Texas A&M University Press, 2005.
- Horner, William T. *Ohio's Kingmaker: Mark Hanna, Man and Myth*. Athens: Ohio University Press, 2010.
- Jones, Stanley L. *The Presidential Election of 1896*. Madison: University of Wisconsin Press, 1964.
- Leech, Margaret. *In the Days of McKinley*. New York: Harper and Brothers, 1959.

- McElroy, Richard L. *William McKinley and Our America*. Canton: Stark (Ohio) County Historical Society, 1996.
- Merry, Robert W. *President McKinley: Architect of the American Century*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 2017.
- Miller, Scott. *The President and the Assassin*. New York: Random House, 2011.
- Morgan, H. Wayne. *William McKinley and His America*. Kent, Ohio: The Kent State University Press, 2003.
- Phillips, Kevin. *William McKinley*. New York: Basic Books (Macmillan), 2003.
- William, R. Hal. *Realigning America: McKinley, Bryan and the Remarkable election of 1896*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 2010.

26. Theodore Roosevelt (26)

- Beale, Howard K. *Theodore Roosevelt and the Rise of America to World Power*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins Press, 1956.
- Blum, John Morton. *The Republican Roosevelt*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1877.
- Brands, Henry William. *T.R.: The Last Romantic*. New York: Basic Books, 2001.
- Brinkley, Douglas. *The Wilderness Warrior: Theodore Roosevelt and the Crusade for America*. New York: HarperCollins, 2009.
- Chessman, G. Wallace. *Governor Theodore Roosevelt: The Albany Apprenticeship, 1898-1900*. _____
- Cutright, P.R. *Theodore Roosevelt: The Making of a Modern Conservationist*. Champaign: University of Illinois Press, 1985.
- Dalton, Kathleen. *Theodore Roosevelt: A Strenuous Life*. New York: Alfred A. Knopf (Random House), 2002.
- Dueck, Colin. "Theodore Roosevelt and American Realism." *Orbis* 61 (4, 2017): 541–60.
- Gould, Lewis L. *The Presidency of Theodore Roosevelt*. American Presidency Series. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1991.
- Iodice, Emilio. "The Courage to Lead: The Leadership Legacies of American Presidents John Fitzgerald Kennedy and Theodore Roosevelt." *Journal of Values-Based Leadership* 10 (1).
- Leuchtenberg, William E. *The American President: From Teddy Roosevelt to Bill Clinton*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2015.
- Marks, Frederick W., III. *Velvet on Iron: The Diplomacy of Theodore Roosevelt*. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press, 1979.
- McCullough, David. *The Path Between the Seas: The Creation of the Panama Canal, 1870-1914*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1977.
- _____. *Mornings on Horseback: The Story of an Extraordinary Family, a Vanished Way of Life and the Unique Child Who Became Theodore Roosevelt*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1981.
- McGerr, Michael. "Theodore Roosevelt," *The American Presidency*, Alan Brinkley and Davis Dyer, ed. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company, 2004
- Milkis, Sidney M. *Theodore Roosevelt, the Progressive Party, and the Transformation of American Democracy*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 2009.
- Miller, Nathan. *Theodore Roosevelt: A Life*. New York: William Morrow and Company, 1992.
- Morris, Edmund. *The Rise of Theodore Roosevelt*. New York: Coward, McCann & Geoghegan, 1979.
- _____. *Theodore Rex*. New York: Random House, 2001.
- Redekop, Benjamin W. "Embodying the Story: Theodore Roosevelt's Conservation Leadership." *Leadership* 12, (2, April 2016): 159–85.
- "Theodore Roosevelt." The White House. <https://www.whitehouse.gov/about-the-white-house/presidents/theodore-roosevelt/>.
- Tilchin, William N. "For the Present and the Future: The Well-Conceived, Successful, and Farsighted Statecraft of President Theodore Roosevelt." *Diplomacy & Statecraft* 19 (4 (December 16, 2008): 658–70.

27. William Howard Taft (27)

- Anderson, Donald F. *William Howard Taft: A Conservative's Conception of the Presidency*. Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1973.
- Burton, David H. *William Howard Taft: Confident Peacemaker*. Philadelphia: Saint Joseph's University Press, 2004.
- Coletta, Paolo. *William Howard Taft: A Biography*. Westport, Connecticut: Meckler Corporation, 1989.
- _____. *The Presidency of William Howard Taft*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1973.
- Gould, Lewis. *Four Hats in the Ring: The 1912 Election and the Birth of Modern American Politics*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 2008.

Lurie, Jonathan. *William Howard Taft: Progressive Conservative*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2011.

Peter, Laurence J and Raymond Hull. *The Peter Principle*. New York: William Murrow and Company, 1969.

28. Woodrow Wilson (28)

Auchincloss, Louis. *Woodrow Wilson*. New York: Viking, 2000.

Berg, A. Scott. *Wilson*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 2013.

Bimes, Terry and Stephen Skowronek. "Woodrow Wilson's Critique of Popular Leadership: Reassessing the Modern-Traditional Divide in Presidential History," *Polity* 29 (1): 27-63.

Blum, John. *Woodrow Wilson and the Politics of Morality*. Boston: Little, Brown, 1956.

Bragdon, Henry W. *Woodrow Wilson: The Academic Years*. Cambridge: Belknap Press, 1967.

Clements, Kendrick A. *The Presidency of Woodrow Wilson*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1962.

Cooper, John Milton, Jr. *The Warrior and the Priest: Woodrow Wilson and Theodore Roosevelt*. Cambridge: Belknap Press, 1983.

Hankins, Barry. *Woodrow Wilson: Ruling Elder, Spiritual President*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2016.

Hannigan, Robert E. *The Great War and American Foreign Policy*. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 2011.

Hakim, Joy. *War, Peace, and All That Jazz*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2005.

Heckscher, August. *Woodrow Wilson*. Norwalk, Connecticut: Easton Press, 1991.

Hodgson, Godfrey. *Woodrow Wilson's Right Hand: The Life of Colonel Edward M. House*. New Haven: Yale University Press, 2006.

Kennedy, Ross A. *The Will to Believe: Woodrow Wilson, World War I, and America's Strategy for Peace and Security*. Kent, Ohio: The Kent State University Press, 2008

Knock, Thomas. "Woodrow Wilson," *The American Presidency*, Alan Brinkley and Davis Dyer, ed. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company, 2004.

Link, Arthur S. *Woodrow Wilson*. Five Volumes. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1947-1966.

Mulder, John H. *Woodrow Wilson: The Years of Preparation*. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1978.

O'Toole, Patricia. *The Moralists: Woodrow Wilson and the World He Made*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 2018.

Pestritto, Ronald J. *Woodrow Wilson and the Roots of Modern Liberalism*. Lanham, Maryland: Rowman and Littlefield: 2005.

Ruiz, George W. "The Ideological Convergence of Theodore Roosevelt and Woodrow Wilson," *Presidential Studies Quarterly* 19 (1): 159-177.

Snell, John L. "Wilson on Germany and the Fourteen Points," *Journal of Modern History* 26 (4, 1954): 364-369.

Weisman, Steven R. *The Great Tax Wars: Lincoln to Wilson – The Fierce Battles over Money That Transformed the Nation*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 2002.

Thompson, John A. *Woodrow Wilson*. New York: Taylor and Francis, 2002.

Thorsen, Aage. *The Political Thought of Woodrow Wilson, 1875-1910*. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2014.

Veysey, Laurence R. "The Academic Mind of Woodrow Wilson." *The Mississippi Valley Historical Review* 49 (4, 1963): 613-34.

Walker, Larry. "Woodrow Wilson, Progressive Reform, and Public Administration." *Political Science Quarterly* 104 (3, 1989): 509-25

White, William Allen. *Woodrow Wilson: The Man, His Times and His Task*. Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1924 (2007).

29. Warren Gamaliel Harding (29)

Bagby, Wesley M. "The 'Smoke Filled Room' and the Nomination of Warren G. Harding." *Mississippi Valley Historical Review* 41 (4, March 1955): 657-674.

Dean, John W. *Warren Harding*. New York: Henry Holt and Company, 2004.

Downes, Randolph C. *The Rise of Warren Gamaliel Harding, 1865-1920*. Athens: Ohio University Press, 1970.

Ferrell, Robert H. *The Strange Deaths of President Harding*. Columbia: University of Missouri Press, 1996.

Leuchtenberg, William E. *The Perils of Prosperity*. Chicago: _____, 1958.

- Morello, John A. *Selling the President, 1920: Albert D. Lasker, Advertising, and the election of Warren G. Harding*. New York: Praeger Publishing, 2001.
- Murray, Robert K. *The Harding Era: Warren G. Harding and His Administration*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 1969.
- _____. *The Politics of Normalcy: Governmental Theory and Practice in the Harding-Coolidge Era*. New York: W.W. Norton and Company, 1973.
- Russell, Francis. *The Shadow of Blooming Grove: Warren G. Harding in His Times*. Norwalk, Connecticut: Easton Press, 1968.
- Sibley, Katherine A.S. *First Lady Florence Harding: Behind the Tragedy and Controversy*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 2009.
- Sinclair, Andrew. *The Available Man: The Life Behind the Masks of Warren Gamaliel Harding*. Chicago: Quadrangle Books (Times Books), 1965, 1969.
- Trani, Eugene P. and David L. Wilson. *The Presidency of Warren G. Harding*. Lawrence: Regents Press of Kansas, 1977.
- Wynn, Neil. *From Progressivism to Prosperity: World War I and American Society*. New York: Holmes & Meier, 1986.

30. Calvin Coolidge (30)

- Barry, John. M. *Rising Tide: The Great Mississippi Flood of 1927*. New York: Simon & Schuster, 1997.
- Ferrell, Robert H. *The Presidency of Calvin Coolidge*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1998.
- Greenberg, David. *Calvin Coolidge*. Times Books (Macmillan), 2006.
- McCoy, Donald R. *Calvin Coolidge: The Quiet President*. New York: Macmillan, 1967.
- Shlaes, Amity. *Coolidge*. New York: HarperCollins, 2013.
- White, William Allen. *A Puritan in Babylon: The Story of Calvin Coolidge*. New York: Macmillan, 1938.

31. Herbert Hoover (31)

- Barber William J. *From New Era to New Deal: Herbert Hoover, the economists and American Economic Policy, 1921-1933*. New York: Cambridge University Press, 1985,
- Clements, Kendrick A. *The Life of Herbert Hoover: Imperfect Visionary, 1918-1928*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2010.
- Durner, David. *Herbert Hoover: A Public Life*. New York: Knopf Doubleday, 1969, 1979.
- Fausold, Martin. *The Presidency of Herbert C. Hoover*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1985.
- Ferrell, Robert H. *American Diplomacy in the Great Depression: Hoover-Stimson Foreign Policy, 1929-1933*. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1957.
- Jeansonne, Glen and David Lührssen. *Herbert Hoover: A Life*. New York: New American Library, 2012.
- Leuchtenberg, William E. *Herbert Hoover*. New York: Times Books (Henry Holt and Company), 2009.
- Lichtman, Allan J. *Prejudice and the Old Politics: The Presidential Election of 1928*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 1979.
- Lisio, Donald J. *The President and Protest: Hoover, MacArthur, and the Bonus Riot*. New York: Fordham University Press, 1994..
- Nash, George H. *The Life of Herbert Hoover*. New York: W.W Norton, 1983.
- Rappleye, Charles. *Herbert Hoover in the White House: The Ordeal of the Presidency*. New York: Simon & Schuster, 2016.
- Smith, Richard Norton. *An Uncommon Man: The Triumph of Herbert Hoover*. New York: Simon & Schuster, 1984.
- Wilson, Joan Hoff. *Herbert Hoover: Forgotten Progressive*. Boston: Little, Brown, 1975.

32. Franklin Delano Roosevelt (32)

- Alter, Jonathan. *The Defining Moment: FDR's Hundred Days and the Triumph of Hope*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 2006.

- Brands, H.W. *Traitor to His Class: The Privileged Life and Radical Presidency of Franklin Delano Roosevelt*. New York: Anchor Books, 2009.
- Brinkley, Douglas. *Rightful Heritage: Franklin D. Roosevelt and the Land of America*. New York: HarperCollins, 2016.
- Burnham, Walter Dean. *Critical Elections and the Mainsprings of American Politics*. New York: W.W. Norton, 1970.
- Burns, James MacGregor. *Roosevelt: The Lion and the Fox*. New York: Harcourt Brace, 1956.
- _____. *Roosevelt: The Soldier of Freedom*. New York: Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, 1970.
- Cronin, Thomas E., and William R. Hochman. "Franklin D. Roosevelt and The American Presidency." *Presidential Studies Quarterly*, (15 (2, 1985): 277–286.
- Dallek, Robert. *Franklin D. Roosevelt and American Foreign Policy: 1932-1945*. New York: Oxford University Press, 1995.
- _____. *Franklin D. Roosevelt: A Political Life*. New York: Viking Press, 2017.
- Daniels, Roger. *Franklin D. Roosevelt: The Road to the New Deal: 1882-1939*. Champaign: University of Illinois Press, 2015.
- _____. *Franklin D. Roosevelt: The War Years 1939-1945*. Champaign: University of Illinois Press, 2016.
- Freidel, Frank. *Franklin D. Roosevelt*. Four Volumes. Boston: Little Brown and Company, 1952-1973.
- _____. *Franklin D. Roosevelt: A Rendezvous with Destiny*. Boston: Little Brown, 1990.
- Fried, Albert. *FDR and His Enemies: A History*. New York: St. Martin's Press, 2001.
- Goodwin, Doris Kearns. *No Ordinary Time: Franklin and Eleanor Roosevelt – The Home Front in World War II*. New York: Simon and Schuster.
- Hart, Curtis W. "Franklin Delano Roosevelt: A Famous Patient." *Journal of Religion and Health*, 53 (4, 2014): 1102–1111.
- Jeffries, John W. *A Third Term for FDR: The Election of 1940*, by JOHN W. JEFFRIES, Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 2017.
- Kennedy, David M. *Freedom From Fear: The American People in Depression and War, 1929-1945*. New York: Oxford University Press, 1999.
- Lash, Joseph P. *Eleanor and Franklin: The Story of Their Relationship Based on Eleanor Roosevelt's Private Papers*. New York: W.W. Norton and Company, 1971.
- _____. "What the New Deal Did." *Political Science Quarterly*. 124 (2, 2009): 251–268.
- Leuchtenburg, William E. "Franklin D. Roosevelt: Domestic Affairs." Miller Center, 24 July 2018.
- _____. *Franklin D. Roosevelt and the New Deal, 1932-1940*. New York: Harpers, 1963.
- _____. *In the Shadow of FDR: From Harry Truman to George W. Bush*. Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 2001.
- _____. *The American President: From Teddy Roosevelt to Bill Clinton*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2015.
- Mayhew, David R. *Electoral Realignment: A critique of an American Genre*. New Haven: Yale University Press, 2004.
- McJimsey, George. *The Presidency of Franklin Delano Roosevelt*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 2000.
- Morgan, Ted. *FDR: A Biography*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1985.
- Robinson, Greg. *By Order of the President: FDR and the Internment of Japanese Americans*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 2001.
- Savage, Sean J. *Roosevelt, the Party Leader: 1932-1945*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky, 1991.
- Schlozman, Daniel. *When Movements Anchor Parties: Electoral Alignments in American History*. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2015.
- Smith, Jean Edward. *FDR*. New York: Random House, 2007.
- Smith, Curt. *The Presidents and the Pastime: The History of Baseball and the White House*. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press, 2018.
- Tobin, James. *The Man He Became: How FDR Defied Polio to Win the Presidency*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 2013.
- Winkler, Allan M. *Franklin D. Roosevelt and the Making of Modern America*. New York: Longman, 2006.
- Woloch, Isser. *The Postwar Moment: Progressive Forces in Britain, France, and the United States after World War II*, New Haven: Yale University Press, 2019.
- Wyman, David S. *The Abandonment of the Jew: America and the Holocaust: 1941-1945*.
- Vedder, Richard K. et.al. "The New Deal." *Out of Work: Unemployment and Government in Twentieth-Century America*, by Richard K. Vedder et al. New York: New York University Press, 1997.

33. Harry S. Truman (33)

- Dallek, Robert. *Harry S. Truman*. New York: Times Books, 2008.
- Daniels, Jonathan. *The Man of Independence*. Columbia: University of Missouri Press, 1998.
- Hamby, Alonzo. "1948 Democratic Convention: The South Secedes Again," *Smithsonian* (August 2008).
 _____ . *Man of the People: A Life of Harry S. Truman*. Lexington, MA.: D.C. Heath and Comapny, 1995.
- Judis, John B. *Genesis: Truman, American Jews, and the Origins of the Arab-Israeli Conflict*. New York: Farrar, Straus & Giroux, 2014.
- Mitchell, Franklin D. *Harry S. Truman and the New Media: Contentious, Belated Respect*. Columbia: University of Missouri Press, 1998.
- MacGregor, Morris J., Jr. *Integration of the Armed Services, 1940-1965*. Washington, D.C.: Center of Military History, 1981.
- McCullough, David. *Truman*. New York: Simon & Schuster, 1992.
- McCoy, Donald R. *The Presidency of Harry S. Truman*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1984.
- Ottolenghi, Michael. "Harry Truman's Recognition of Israel," *Historical Journal* 47 (4, December 2004).
- Pietrusza, David. *1948: Harry Truman's Improbable Victory and the Year That Transformed America*. New York: Union Square Press, 2011.
- Stokesbury, James L. *A Short History of the Korean War*. New York: Harper Perennial, 1990.
- Weinstein, Allen. *Perjury: The Hiss-Chambers Case*. New York: Random House, 1997.

34. Dwight D. Eisenhower (34)

- Ambrose, Stephen E. *Eisenhower*. New York: Simon & Schuster, 1983-1984.
 _____ , *The Victors: Eisenhower and His Boys: The Men of World War II*. New York: Simon & Schuster, 1998.
- Boyle, Peter G. *Eisenhower*. New York: Pearson/Longman, 2005.
- Divine, Robert A. *Eisenhower and the Cold War*. _____ : _____ , 1981.
- Gellman, Irvin F. *The President and the Apprentice: Eisenhower and Nixon*. New Haven: Yale University Press, 2015.
- Jordan, Jonathan W. *Brothers Rivals Victors: Eisenhower, Paton, Bradley and the Partnership that Drove the Allied Conquest in Europe*. New York: New America Library, 2011.
- Lasby, Clarence G. *Eisenhower's Heart Attack: How Ike Beat Heart Disease and Held on to the Presidency*. _____ : _____ , 1997.
- Newton, Jim. *Eisenhower: The White House Years*. New York: Doubleday, 2005.
- Pach, Chester J., Jr. and Elmo Richardson. *The Presidency of Dwight D. Eisenhower*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1991.
- Pickett, William B. *Dwight David Eisenhower and American Power*. Wheeling, Illinois: Harlan Davidson, 1995.
- Smith, Jean Edward. *Eisenhower in War and Peace*. New York: Random House, 2012.
- Watry, David M. *Diplomacy at the Brink: Eisenhower, Churchill and Eden in the Cold War*. Baton Rouge: Louisiana University Press, 2014.
- Wicker, Tom. *Dwight D. Eisenhower*. New York: Times Books, 2002.

35. John Fitzgerald Kennedy (35)

- Brinkley, Alan. *John F. Kennedy*. New York: Times Books, 2012.
- Brauer, Carl J. *John F. Kennedy and the Second Reconstruction*. New York: Columbia University Press, 1977.
- Brogan, Hugh. *Kennedy*. London: Longman, 2000.
- Bugliosi, Vincent. *Reclaiming History: The Assassination of President John F. Kennedy*. New York: Norton, 2007.
- Casey, Shaun. *The Making of a Catholic President: Kennedy vs. Nixon, 1960*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2009.
- Dallek, Robert. *An Unfinished Life: John F. Kennedy, 1917-1963*. Boston: Little, Brown and Company, 2003.
- Donovan, Robert J. *PT-106: John F. Kennedy in WWII*. New York: McGraw Hill, 2001.
- Herst, Burton. *Bobby and J. Edgar: The Historic Face-Off Between the Kennedy's and J. Edgar Hoover that Transformed America*. New York: Basic Books, 2007.

- Karnow, Stanley. *Vietnam: A History*. New York: Penguin, 1991.
- Kempe, Frederick. *Berlin, 1961*. New York: G.P. Putnam's Sons, 2011.
- Manchester, William. *Portrait of a President: John F. Kennedy in Profile*. Boston: Little Brown, 1997.
- _____. *The Death of a President: November 20-25*. New York: Harper & Row, 1967.
- Matthews, Chris. *Jack Kennedy Elusive Hero*. New York: Simon & Schuster, 2011.
- Massa, Mark S. "A Catholic for President: John F. Kennedy and the Secular Theology of the Houston Speech, 1960." *Journal of Church and State* 39 (1997): 297-317.
- O'Brian, Michael. *John F. Kennedy*. New York: Griffen, 2006.
- Reeve, Richard. *President Kennedy: Profile of Power*. New York: Schuster & Simon, 1993.
- Schlesinger, Arthur M., Jr. *A Thousand Days: John F. Kennedy in the White House*. Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 2002.
- Sorenson, Theodore. *Kennedy*. New York: Harper and Row, 1965.

36. Lyndon Baines Johnson (36)

- Andrew, John A. *Lyndon Johnson and the Great Society*. Chicago: Ivan R. Dee, 1999.
- Berman, Larry. *Lyndon Johnson's War: The Road to Stalemate in Vietnam*. New York: Norton, 1989 (1991).
- Bernstein, Irving. *Guns or Butter: The Presidency of Lyndon Johnson*. New York: Oxford University Press, 1996.
- Bornet, Vaughn Davis. *The Presidency of Lyndon B. Johnson*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1983.
- Brands, H.W. *The Wages of Globalism: Lyndon Johnson and the Limits of American Power*. New York: Oxford University Press, 1997.
- Caro, Robert A. *The Years of Lyndon Johnson, 3 volumes*. New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1982, 2002, 2012.
- Dallek, Robert. *Flawed Giant: Lyndon Johnson and His Times: 1961-1973*. New York: Oxford University Press, 1991.
- Ellis, Sylvia. *Freedom's Pragmatist: Lyndon Johnson and Civil Rights*. Gainesville: University Press of Florida, 2013.
- Goodwin, Doris Kearns. *Lyndon Johnson and the American Dream*. New York: Harper & Row, 1976.
- Lerner, Mitchell B., ed. *Looking Back at LBJ: White House Politics in a New Light*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 2005.
- Mann, Robert. *Daisy Petals and Mushroom Clouds: LBJ, Barry Goldwater, and the Ad That Changed American Politics*. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press, 2011.
- Wood, Randall B. *LBJ: Architect of American Ambition*. New York: Free Press, 2006. Paperback - Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 2007.
- _____. *Prisoners of Hope: Lyndon B. Johnson, the Great Society and the Limits of Liberalism*. New York: Basic Books (Perseus), 2016.

37. Richard Milhous Nixon (37)

- Ambrose, Stephen E. *Nixon 3 volumes*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1988-1991.
- Bernstein, Carl and Bob Woodward. *All the President's Men*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1974 (1984).
- Black Conrad. *Richard M. Nixon: A Life in Full*. New York: Public Affairs Books, 2007.
- Dallek, Robert. *Nixon and Kissinger: Partners in Power*. New York: HaperCollins, 2007.
- Drew, Elizabeth. *Richmond M. Nixon*. New York Times Books, 2007.
- Evans, Rowland and Robert Novak. *Nixon in the White House: The Frustration of Power*. New York: Random House, 1971.
- Farrell, John A. *Richard Nixon: The Life*. New York: Doubleday, 2017.
- Frick, Daniel. *Reinventing Richard Nixon*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 2008.
- Frum, David. *How We Got Here: The '70s*. New York: Basic Books, 2000.
- Li, Victor. *Nixon in New York: How Wall Street Helped Richard Nixon Win the White House*. Madison, N.J.: Fairleigh Dickinson University Press, 2018.
- Morris, Roger. *Richard Milhous Nixon: The Rise of an American Politician*. New York: Henry Holt, 1990.
- Perlstein, Richard. *Nixonland: The Rise of a President and the Fracturing of America*. New York: Scribner, 2008.
- Reeves, Richard. *President Nixon: Alone in the White House*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 2001.
- Safire, William. *Before the Fall: A Insider view of the Pre-Watergate White House*. Garden City, N.Y.: Doubleday, 1975 (Revised: Transaction Publishers, 2005).
- Small, Melvin. *The Presidency of Richard Nixon*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1999.
- Thomas, Evan. *Being Nixon: A Man Divided*. New York: Random House.
- White, Theodore H. *The Making of the President, 1972*. New York: Antheneum, 1973

38. Gerald Ford (38)

- Brinkley, Douglas. *Gerald R. Ford*. New York: Times Books, 2007.
- Cannon, James. *Gerald R. Ford: An Honorable Life*. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press, 2013.
- Firestone, Bernard J. and Alexej Urgrinsky, Eds. *Gerald R. Ford and the Politics of Post-Watergate America*. Westport, Conn.: Greenwood Press, 1992.
- Ford, Gerald R. *A Time to Heal the Autobiography of Gerald R. Ford*. New York, NY: Berkley Books, 1980.
- Green, John Robert. *The Limits of Power: The Nixon and Ford Administrations*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1993.
- _____. *The Presidency of Gerald R. Ford*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1995.
- Hartmann, Robert T. *Palace Politics: An Insider's Account of the Ford Years*. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1980.
- Hult, Karen M. and Charles E. Walcot. *Empowering the White House: Governance Under Nixon, Ford, and Carter*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 2004.
- Kalman, Laura. "Gerald Ford, the Nixon Pardon, and the Rise of the Right." *Cleveland State Law Review* 58, (2, March 2010): 349–366.
- Kaufman, Scott. *Ambition, Pragmatism and Party: A Political Biography of Gerald R. Ford*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 2017.
- Mieczkowski, Yanek. *Gerald Ford and the Challenges of the 1970s*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky, 2005.
- TerHorst, Jerald F. *Gerald Ford and the Future of the Presidency*. Louisville, KY: American Printing House, 1976.

39. James Earl Carter, Jr. (39)

- Allen, Gary. *Jimmy Carter, Jimmy Carter*. Seal Beach, CA: '76 Press, 1976.
- Borne, Peter G. *Jimmy Carter: A Comprehensive Biography From Plains to Post-Presidency*. New York: Scribner, 1997.
- Busch, Andrew E. *Reagan's Victory: The Presidential Election of 1980 and the Rise of the Right*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 2005.
- Dumbrell, John. *The Carter Presidency: A Re-evaluation*. Manchester: UK: Manchester University Press, 1995.
- Halgrove, Erwin C. *Jimmy Carter as President: Leadership and the Politics of the Public Good*. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press, 1998.
- Harris, David. *The Crisis: The President, the Prophet, and the Shah – 1979 and the Coming of Militant Islam*. Boston: Little, Brown, 2004.
- Kucharsky, David. *The Man From Plains: The Mind and Spirit of Jimmy Carter*. New York: Harper & Row, 1976.
- McCulloch, David. *Path Between the Seas: The Creation of the Panama Canal, 1870-1914*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1977.
- Morris, Kenneth Earl. *Jimmy Carter, American Moralist*. Athens: University of George Press, 1996.
- Rosenbaum, Herbert D. and Alexej Urgrinsky, Eds. *The Presidency and Domestic Policies of Jimmy Carter*. Westport, Conn.: Greenwood Press, 1994.
- White, Theodore H. *America in Search of Itself: The Making of the President, 1956-1980*. New York: Harper & Row, 1982.
- Witcover, Jules. *Marathon: The Pursuit of the Presidency, 1972-1976*. New York: Viking Press, 1977.
- Zelzer, Julian. *Jimmy Carter*. New York: Times Books, 2010.

40. Ronald Reagan (40)

- Beschloss, Michael. *Presidential Courage: Brave Leaders and How They Changed America*. New York: Simon & Schuster, 2008.
- Cannon, Lou. *President Reagan: The Role of a Lifetime*. New York: PublicAffairs, 1991.
- _____. *Governor Reagan: His Rise to Power*. New York: PublicAffairs, 2003.
- Hayward, Steven F. *The Age of Reagan: The Conservative Counterrevolution: 1980-1989*. New York: Crown Forum, 2009.
- Holden, Kenneth. *Making of the Great Communicator: Ronald Reagan's Transformation From Actor to Governor*. Guilford, Conn.: Lyons Press, 2013.

- Pemberton, William E. *Exit With Honor: The Life and Presidency of Ronald Reagan*. New York: Routledge, 1998.
- Prasad, Monica. *Starving the Beast: Ronald Reagan and the Tax Cut Revolution*. New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 2018.
- Reeves, Richard. *President Reagan: The Triumph of Imagination*. New York: Simon & Schuster, 2005.
- Schaller, Michael. *Ronald Reagan*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2011.
- Troy, Gil. *The Reagan Revolution: A Very Short Introduction*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2009.
- Wills, Garry. *Reagan's America: Innocents at Home*. Garden City, N.Y.: Doubleday, 1987.
- Woodard, J. David. *Ronald Reagan: A Biography*. Westport, Conn.: ABC-CLIO, LLC, 2012.
- <https://www.vox.com/2015/12/1/9828348/ronald-reagan-hiv-aids>.
- <https://www.vox.com/2016/3/22/11278760/war-on-drugs-racism-nixon>

41. George Herbert Walker Bush (41)

- Carlisle, Rodney P. and John Steward Bowman. *Persian Gulf War*. New York: Facts on File, 2010.
- Ducat, Stephen J. *The Wimp Factor: Gender Gaps, Holy Wars, and the Politics of Anxious Masculinity*. Boston: Beacon Press, 2004.
- Duffy, Michael and Dan Goodgame. *Marching in Place: The Status Quo Presidency of George Bush*. New York: Simon & Schuster, 1992.
- Greene, John Robert. *The George H.W. Bush Years*. New York: Facts on File, Inc., 2006.
- _____. *The Presidency of George Bush*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 2000-2015.
- Meacham, Jon. *Destiny and Power: The American Odyssey of George Herbert Walker Bush*. New York: Random House, 2015.
- Mervin, David. *George Bush and the Guardianship Presidency*. New York: St. Martin's Press, 1996.
- Naftali, Timothy. *George H.W. Bush*. New York: Times Books, 2007.
- Patterson, James T. *Restless Giant: The United States from Watergate to Bush v. Gore*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2005.
- Smith, Jean Edward. *George Bush's War*. New York: Henry Holt & Company, 1992.
- Updegrave, Mark. *The Last Republicans: Inside the Extraordinary Relationship Between George H.S. Bush and George W. Bush*. New York: Harper, 2017.
- Wicker, Tom. *George Herbert Walker Bush*. New York: Lipper/Viking, 2004.

42. William Jefferson Clinton (42)

- Baker, Peter. *The Breach: Inside the Impeachment and Trial of William Jefferson Clinton*. New York: Scribner, 2000.
- Bovard, James. *Feeling Your Pain: The Explosion and Abuse of Government Power in the Clinton-Gore Years*. New York: St. Martin's Press, 2000.
- Conason, Joe and Gene Lyons. *The Hunting of the President: The Ten-Year Campaign to Destroy Bill and Hillary Clinton*. New York: St. Martin's Press, 2003.
- Drew, Elizabeth. *On the Edge: The Clinton Presidency*. New York: St. Martin's Press, 1994.
- _____. *Showdown: The Struggle Between the Gingrich Congress and the Clinton White House*. New York: Simon & Schuster, 1996.
- Harris, John. F. *The Survivor: Bill Clinton in the White House*. New York: Random House, 2006.
- Hitchens, Christopher. *No One Left to Lie To: The Triangulations of William Jefferson Clinton*. London: Atlantic Books, 1999.
- Hyland, William G. *Clinton's World: Remaking American Foreign Policy*. Westport, Connecticut: Praeger, 1999.
- Klein, Joe. *The Natural: The Misunderstood Presidency of Bill Clinton*. New York: Broadway Books, 2002.
- Laham, Nicholas. *A Lost Cause: Bill Clinton's Campaign for National Health Insurance*. Westport, Connecticut: Praeger, 1996.
- Nigel, Hamilton. *Bill Clinton: An American Journey*. New York: Random House, 2003.
- Posner, Richard A. *An Affair of State: The Investigation, Impeachment, and Trial of President Clinton*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1999.
- Renshon, Stanley Allen. *The Clinton Presidency: Campaign, Governing and the Psychology of Leadership*. Boulder, Colorado: Crestview Press, 1995.
- _____. *High Hopes: The Clinton Presidency and the Politics of Ambition*. New York: New York University Press, 1996.
- Rozell, Mark J. *The Clinton Scandal and the Future of American Government*. Washington, D.C: Georgetown University Press, 2000.

Troy, Gill. *The Age of Clinton: America in the 1990s*. New York: Thomas Dunne Books, St. Martin's Press, 2015.

George Walker Bush (43)

Barnes, Fred. *Rebel-in-Chief: How George W. Bush in Redefining the Conservative Movement and Transforming America*. New York: Crown Forum, 2006.

Bartlett, Bruce. *Impostor: How George W. Bush Bankrupted America and Betrayed the Reagan Legacy*. New York: Doubleday, 2006.

Draper, Robert. *Inside the Bush White House: The Presidency of George W. Bush*, 2007.

Frum, David. *The Right Man: The Surprise Presidency of George W. Bush*. New York: Random House, 2003.

Greenspan, Alan. *The Age of Turbulence: Adventures in a New World*. New York: Penguin, 2007.

Graham, John D. *Bush on the Home Front: Domestic Policy Triumphs and Setbacks*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 2010.

Greenstein, Fred I., ed. *The George W. Bush Presidency: An Assessment*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2003.

Moore, James and Wayne Slater. *Bush's Brain: How Karl Rove Made George W. Bush Presidential*. New York: Wiley Publishers, 2003.

Smith, Jean Edward. *Bush*. New York: Simon & Schuster, 2016.

43. Barack Hussein Obama (44)

Clayton, Dewey M. *The Presidential Campaign of Barack Obama*. New York: Routledge, 2010.

Davis, John. *The Barack Obama Presidency: A Two Year Assessment*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2012.

Ferrar, Mark S. *Barack Obama and the Rhetoric of Hope*. Jefferson, North Carolina: McFarland and Company, Inc. Publishers, 2013.

Maraniss, David. *Barack Obama: The Story*. New York: Simon and Schuster:, 2012.

Mendell, David. *Obama: From Promise to Power*. New York: Armistad/HarperCollins, 2007.

Obama, Barack. *Dreams From My Father: A Story of Race and Inheritance*. New York: Three Rivers Press, 2004.

McClelland, Edward. *Young Mr. Obama: Chicago and the Making of a Black President*. New York: Bloomsbury Press, 2010.

Renshon, Stanley Allen. *Barack Obama and the Politics of Redemption*. New York: Routledge, 2001.

Smith, Robert Charles. *John F. Kennedy, Barack Obama, and the Politics of Ethnic Incorporation and Avoidance*. Albany: State University of New York Press, 2013.

Street, Paul. *Barack Obama and the Future of American Politics*. Boulder, Colorado: Paradigm Publishers, 2009.

Zelizer, Julian E. *The President of Barack Obama: A First Historical Assessment*. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2018.

44. Donald John Trump (45)

Barrett, Wayne. *Trump: The Deals and the Downfall* (Paperback: *The Greatest Show on Earth: The Deals, The Downfall, The Reinvention*). New York: HarperCollins, 2016.

Blair, Gwenda. *The Trumps: Three Generations That Built an Empire*. New York: Simon & Schuster, 2011.

Johnston, David Cay. *The Making of Donald Trump*. Brooklyn, New York: Melville, 2016.

Kranish, Michael and Marc Fisher. *Trump Revealed: The Definitive Biography of the 45th President*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 2017.

Lademan, Charlie and Brendan Simms. *Donald Trump: The Making of a World View*. New York: I.B. Tauris and Company, Ltd., 2017.

Trump, Donald J and Tony Schwartz. *Trump: The Art of the Deal*. New York: Random House, 2009.

Wooten, Sara. *Donald Trump: From Real Estate to Reality TV*. Berkeley Heights, New Jersey: Enslow Publishers, 2009.